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(Nors.—The letter B stands for Budget, and means that the work has been charged against the 

Budget of the Department ; the letter T stands for Tourists, and means that the work has been 
paid for from the ‘‘ Tourists’ Fund,”’ and the letters B T mean that the excavations were at first 

paid for from the Budget, but finally charged against the ‘‘ Tourists’ Fund,”] 

Bape resources at the disposal of the Antiquities Department for 
excavations are: 1, The sums provided for excavations in the 

annual budget of the Antiquities Department ; 2, The sums obtained 
by the sale of tourists’ tickets for Upper Egypt and Sakkarah. The 
expenses for the search for monuments are all paid on the budget, 
while those required for excavations, repairs, etc., are charged to 
the tourists’ fund. 

Sa-EL-HaGar (B). Articles in bronze (September). —Some of 
which are extremely rare. One of these is ‘‘ Pacht” in the shape of 
a cat sitting on the shoulder of a standing man. 

Axsou-Roacu (B). Statuettes ( June 15th to October 1st ).—Ex- 
cavations have led us to discover a vast under ground building, the 
use of which is still unknown, containing a large number of statuettes 
in bronze and enamel work of great delicacy, many of which repre- 
sent Pharaoh’s rats, the animals consecrated to the god Nefer-Toum. 
GuizEH (B). Lime-stone sarcophages (August, 1892).—Sarcoph- 

age of a priest of the Pyramid of Mycerinus whose name is read 
Uta (end of the IVth Dynasty). 

Asu-Sir (B). Great pyramid (August 1st to October 1st).— 
Opening of the great pyramid the inner chambers of which are 
entirely destroyed. 
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Excavation of the mastaba of Phtah Shepses.—This mastaba is 
famous for the scenes of transport of gigantic statues as well as for 

the lotus shaped columns which are the only ones known to belong 
to the ancient empire. This mastaba which was originally very 
large, is unfortunately much damaged (Vth Dynasty). 
Mit-RAHINEH (B). Discoveries in the ruins of the great temple. 

( August 1892 ).— Discovery of the following objects: Two colossal 
statues of the god Ptah (*), a sacred boat in granite (tf), a boat in 
lime-stone, carrying a naos with a statue of the god Khnoum, a lime- 
stone bust of a king (probably Ramses II) on whose head a scara- 

baeus is placed, a granite group ({) representing Ramses II and the 

god Ra-hor-Khouti (§). 
Discoveries in the koms ( August 1893.) —A sculptor’s workshop. 

It belongs to the Ptolemaic period and contains a number of models 

and antique castings. 
SAKKARAH. WDiscovery of the mastaba of Meru-Ka, known as 

Mera (B) (July 1893).—The unearthing and repairing of this 

tomb (T) were made in August and September. This mastaba is 
is the largest known and is of a particular interest on account of its 
dimensions. It consists of 31 chambers, three of which have pillars. 

In the largest chamber is a statue of the deceased in painted lime- 
stone, 2 metres 30 centim. height, standing before a table of alabas- 
ter on which offerings are placed. In the principal chambers there 

are 4 stele in the name of Mera, his son and his wife. The small 

chambers lie to the west. They are called store rooms and contained 
the offerings and the provisions of the dead. The paintings in the 

chambers with pillars are well preserved in the same manner as those 
in the tomb of Sech-Secht, wife of Meru-Ka. The sculptures in these 
rooms are fine and the scenes varied. 

This mastaba has been protected by the Avenue of Sphinx 
beneath which it is placed. The flooring of this avenue, leading 
from the Greek Serapeum to that of the new empire, can still be 
seen to the east and west of the tomb. 

Discovery of the mastaba of Ka-bi-n (July).— This mastaba is 

situated not far from the preceding mastaba. The unearthing and 
repairing of this tomb (T) were made in September and October, 

and there are only five chambers the walls of which are covered 
with bas-reliefs very carefully done (Vth Dynasty). 

Discovery of a scribe whose name ts unknown and of the statue 

(*) Museum room 26, n. 185 and 186. 

(t) Museum room 24, n. 155. 
(t) Museum room 23, n. 153. 
($) They were discovered in August, 1892, but have not yet been exhibited to 

visitors. 
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which accompanied it. —This discovery has been made in a mastaba 
of Vth Dynasty, made of unburnt bricks. The statue of the scribe 
(*) is one of the most remarkable masterpieces of ancient art and 

can be equalled only by the Seikh-el-Beled and the scribe of the 
Louvre Museum. The mastaba in which these statues were found 
had a very wretched aspect and the statues were placed in two 
recesses made in the wall of a passage. 

Excavation of a well (B).— Discovery of several sarcophagi one 
of which is in grey granite of very pretty workmanship. It belongs 
to the period of the last dynasty. 

Excavation in the great enclosure to the west of the pyramid of 
Ounas in the desert (B).—lIt is enclosed by four parallel walls and 
measures 655 metres in length by 400 in width and is one of the 
most extensive monuments of the ancient empire. As there is no 
trace of a monument within this enclosure, I think it must have con- 

tained sacred ground where a cave or a great tomb may exist. Ex- 

cavations have however been fruitless, but they have allowed us to 
study the circuit walls which are very ancient and date as far back 
as the graded pyramid. 
Fayoum (B). Zxcavations in the necropolis. — Excavations of 

little interest. They have produced eight coins of a Roman period 
ornamented with portraits, a few objects of no great scientific inter- 

est and a very interesting sarcophagus with a curved lid containing 

a Greek mummy ; this sarcophagus bears the following inscription : 

THEODORION CHRESTE CHAIRE. 

Murr (B). Zxcavations in the necropolis.— The tombs of the 
XIIth Dynasty have furnished us with certain curious statuettes in 
wood and one in bronze ({) representing a person called Nakht 

(this latter is a unique piece). A large scarabeus in paste of blue 
glass ({) and 28 boats in wood with their rowers; some of the boats 
have sails (§). These excavations were undertaken in September, 
1892 and continued in 1893 with as much success as that obtained 
the year before. 

Asypvos (B). xcavations in the necropolis. — Several small 

objects were found in the necropolis while excavations were being 

made in it. Among these a magnificent breast-plate in green 
enamel(|j). 

(*) Museum room, n. 2. 
(t) These excavations were made in September, 1892. Museum room 70, ”.. 

913 and 913 dis. 
({) Museum room 70. n. 914. 
(§) Museum room 65. 
(]) Museum room 70, selected objects. 
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Gaou (B). Zxcavations. — Excavations made there have given 
us some mummies of the Grecian period (all of which are of no 
particular interest ), some small monuments such as funeral statu- 
ettes, winged scarabzus, etc., of tolerably good workmanship and 
the lid of a sarcophagus in lime-stone, the same as those found at 

Sakkarah. It is of admirable workmanship, the hieroglyphics are 

painted green, the eyes are encrusted and the face gilt ( Ptolemic 
period ). 

GourNnAH (B). xcavations.— Our excavations at Gournah 

have not been successful. Only two wells, each containing one 
sarcophagus of no importance, and a tomb containing fine paintings 

have been discovered. It is impossible to open this tomb to tourists 

owing to the difficulty of access to it. 

Louxor. TZemple (T). — Excavations have been actively prose- 
cuted under the direction of M. Daressy, sub-keeper of the Museum. 
They were started on January rst, and discontinued at the end 
of April and were connected with the great colonnade and the 

Court of Ramses, the north-east angle of which could not be touched 
on account of the position of the mosque at the south-west part out- 

side the temple, the only place where it was possible for us to work, 
the other sites were also occupied with houses. It will not be pos- 
sible for us to continue our excavations in the future until after the 
mosque and the houses have been expropriated. 

Great works in masonry have been executed for repairing the 
columns and various parts of the temple. A wall has also been 
erected to enclose the monument. 
Two vaulted drains have been constructed to allow the Nile water 

to enter the temple and leave it freely. This measure was neces- 
sary in order to remove the salts with which the soil and the build- 
ings are impregnated and which, by their crystallization and disso- 
lution every year, separate the molecules of which the edifice is 
composed. 

All the earth extracted from the temple has been transported (at 
the expense of the inhabitants of Louxor ) into the marshes to the 
north-east of the village. This measure will greatly improve the 
sanitary condition of that locality. 

Karnak. Statues.—Two gigantic statues have been removed 
from the temple of Karnak and will be placed in the Guizeh 
Museum. One of these is the statue of Seti II (XIXth Dynasty ) in 
compact grit-stone and was placed in the Hypostyle hall under the 
remains of a pylon. It was covered with water every year. The 
other statue, discovered in 1892, is in rose-coloured synite stone and 
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was placed facing the great pylon. It bears the name of a scribe 
named Amen-Hotep belonging to the XVIIIth Dynasty. 

GEBELEIN (B). Zxcavations. — Excavations here have resulted 
in nothing of importance. Some fragments of monuments of the 
XIth Dynasty and a stone bearing the cartouche of the king Khian 
are the only objects discovered. 

Hassaya (B). £xcavations.— Our excavations here brought to 
light mummies of no interest belonging to a low period. 

Kom-Ompsos. JVecropolis (B).— We have discovered a large 

number of tombs of no interest belonging to a low period; also a 
large number of crocodile mummies (some of which are 5 metres 
long ) in tombs resembling those of human mummies. 

Temple (T).— The temple of Ombos is situated on the summit 
of a hill on the right bank of the Nile, 40 kilometres down-stream of 
Assouan. This hill was previously surrounded with water on all 
sides, but the right branch of the river is now entirely silted up. 

As at Philz, the front parts of the temple at Kom-Ombos were 
almost all situated on the river shore, but the stream carried them all 

away, and would certainly have destroyed the other monuments had 
I not taken the necessary measures to protect them. 

A wall in unburnt brick, three sides of which (all well preserved ) 
can still be seen. This wall enclosed the lands reserved for worship 
and for the priests. The great temple was in the middle, the front 
part facing the west. The mammise was to the north-west and the 

pylon to the south-west. Between these the remains of a sakieh 
which supplied the temple with water still exist. The great monu- 
ment is composed of two temples joined in such a manner as to lie 
on the same axis, a unique thing in Egypt. The doors of the front 
part are double and the sanctuary to the south is dedicated to Sebek 
or Sobkou, while that to the north is dedicated to Hareeris. 

The sovereigns who took part in the construction and the embel- 
lishment of the temple of Ombos are Ptolemy VII who seems to 
have built the greater part, Ptolemy IX, Ptolemy X and Ptolemy 
XIII, as well as the Emperors Augustus, Tiberius, Caligula, 

Claudius, Neron, Vespasien, Domitien, Antonin and even Com- 

mode, cartouches of which can be seen in the exterior edifices. It 

is certain that most of these western rulers were completely unaware 
of the existence of the small village of Ombos lost in Upper Egypt, 
but their names are engraved on the monuments and give us the 
date of the construction of these buildings. By the picturesqueness 
of the spot on which it rises, its singular architecture and the fine- 
ness of the sculptures which cover its walls and columns, the temple 
of Ombos particularly attracts the attention of the visitor. 
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Almost all the savants who travelled through Egypt have declared 
that this temple is sure to be ruined and this opinion seemed just for 
the river carried away a small part of the hill every year. But I 
resolved to do all I could to save this monument which is unique of 
its kind in the Nile valley, and on January 15th, 1893, excavations 
began. More than 12,000 cubic metres of earth were transported 

and thrown into the Nile in three months and all pieces of stone 
that had fallen in the middle of the edifice, but bearing no inscrip- 
tion, were employed in building a spur which to-day protects the 
whole of the ruins from the action of the current. Every column, 
cartouche and wall has been carefully consolidated, a work which 
was undertaken under my personal direction and lasted three 
months. This temple will be open to the public in the season 1893- 
1894. All we have to do in the future is to maintain the works of 

defense. 
Assovan (B). £xcavations in the necropolis. — Excavations in 

the necropolis have led us to discover tombs of the VIth Dynasty 
containing objects of no great importance. We have unearthed (T) 
tombs already discovered but buried again under the sand. 

SEHEL IsLanp (B). Déscoveries.— We have here discovered 
the remains of a chapel dedicated to the goddess Anoukit. 

ACQUISITIONS BY THE MUSEUM. 

A very pretty scarabeus in green basalt of very careful work- 
manship. 

Model of a small ancient house in two stories. 
A great cynocephale, measuring 1m, 20, in lime-stone with an 

opening on the back in which were six small cynocephales of differ- 
ent materials ( Tell-Mousteb, Lower Egypt) were found. 
Two gold rings. 
One gold chain with two gold medallions, one at each end, hav- 

ing the head of a Medusa, measuring 1m, 23. 

Statuette in black granite representing a sitting person named 
Aah Hotep. The head of this statuette is missing. 

Seven scarabeus of the XIIIth Dynasty. 
Two gold earrings with a row of pearls (Greek-Roman period ), 

two gold rings (same period), twenty heads in laster belonging to 
mummies of the Greek-Roman period (Balansourah, Upper 

Egypt ). 
A fragment of a bas-relief. Three women smelling lotus flowers, 

the colours of these latter are well preserved ( Bersheh, Upper 

Egypt). 
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A statue in bronze representing the goddess Sati. 
A small standing hippopotamus in white marble. 
A small head pillow in blood stone bearing inscription in the 

name of Khorhapi. 
A scarabeus of the king Raneb-Ka (IIId Dynasty ). 
An ivory ball the diameter of which is 0m, 35 ( Luxor ). 

A stela, Amenophis III worshipping before the god Horus. 
This stela is in burnt earth and has been moulded. We possess the 
fragment of another stela from the same mould. 

Stela of the king Ousertasen III worshipping before two gods. 

PROJECTS FOR 1894. 

The works in the Luxor temple, already in an advanced state, 

cannot be continued next winter, the expropriation of properties 
surrounding it as well as those within its limits not having yet been 
completed. The Antiquities Department will bring all its efforts to 

bear on the left bank of the Nile and, if possible, repair the temples 
of Medinet Habou, Deir El Medinet, Gournah and the Rames- 

seum. 
J. pE Morean, Director General. 

A LATE DISCOVERY FROM THE EGYPTIAN FAYOUM. 

a” 1877 the first great discoveries of Greek papyri were made in 
the Fayoum, and thenceforward the Greek town of Arsinoé and 

its neighborhood has been the chief source whence papyri have made 
their way to the leading libraries of Europe. These consist chiefly 
of hundreds of fragments of papyri of accounts, deeds, royal edicts, 
and the like, particularly of Ptolemaic and Roman times, and cov- 

ering the first 250 years of the Christian era. 
Among the Fayoum papyri in the Berlin Museum, Dr. Krebs 

recently found an unpretentious looking piece about three and a-half 

by eight inches, containing twenty-four lines of Greek text, little 
thinking that it contained in those twenty-four lines enough to re- 

construct one of the most important imperial edicts which the 
Roman government ever issued. In the time of the Emperor 
Decius (249-251 A. D.) an edict went forth commanding that any 
person suspected of being a Christian should appear before the local 
magistrates and prove his fidelity to the government by sacrificing 
in their presence to the gods. If he refused to sacrifice he was put 
to death. If, however, he obeyed, and went through the necessary 
ceremonies, he was freed and given a certificate officially signed, 
stating that he had done so. This certificate was called a “bellus 
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and the holder was called a /idel/aticus. No copy of a Uibellus has 
ever been found nor enough of the requirements of the imperial 
edict of Decius to render its restoration possible, until Dr. Kreb’s 
recent discovery among the Fayoum papyri in the Berlin Museum. 

The document has just been published by Dr. Krebs in the 
Sttzungberichte der Koeniglich Preussischen Akademie der Wissen- 

schaften zu Berlin, Vol. XLVIII, with an excellent photograph of 

the original. We copy the Greek text as given by Dr. Krebs in the 
above publication, and give also a translation made by Mr. J. H. 
Breasted in the Biblical World. 
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Toig éri twv Suowy pn 
wévors xw(tuys)' “AAsE(cvdpov) Nuoou 
mapa AvpyA(iou) Aroyévor(s) Lara 
Rovros cmd xw(uys) 'AAsEadvd(pou) 
Nycou, we LoB,” ova(y) 
Geppir deE(u@). Kat ciel 
Suwy reic Sevic drere- 
Aeoa xol viv émt ma~ 
potow Dueiv xara 

(sic) 

Te mpooreratal ye} 
va ESvoa [xa]t éx[...] 
[.].« twv ife]pecwy [...] 
Cduyy xa ak icc] 
troonuwoacSou. 

Aueutuyeirou. 

AvpnA(ioc) [Atloyevns é7rid]é(dwxee)].* 
Avpna(sos) OP. sPoseh J 

‘Suovra Muof. . .] 
++ YUVOS TEO{LELWprers P) 

[ua|’® Avroxparopo[s] Kou |oapos] 
[[a}iou Meooiou K[o]iv[rou] 
[Tp]afevov As]xiou Evo[eBovc] 

[E]iz[vxovs] Xe[B]a[o]rov 
"Ex[eip] B- 

The translation is line for line, indicating the lacune by 

To the supervisors of the sacrifices 
of the village of Alexander’s Island,* 

by Aurelius Diogenes (the son) of Satabus, 
of the village of Alexander’s 
Island; about 72 years (old), a scar 
over right eye-brow. And always 
sacrificing to the gods I have 

continued, and now in 

* The village of Alexander’s Island is known as far back as the third century 
before Christ, and was located on an island in one of the lakes of the Fayoum. 
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your presence according to 
the things commanded (us), 
I have sacrificed and 

. .Of the beasts........ 
.....-and I call upon you 

to bear witness. 
I salute you, 

I, Aurelius Diogenes have given it. 
Aurelius 
sacrificing 

I bear witness. 
Year one of Emperor Cesar 
Gaius Messius Quintus 
Trajan Decius Pius 
Felix Augustus 
Epiphi 2. 

By this discovery the long controversy as to exactly what a 
libellus was, is settled beyond all argument. 

EGYPTIAN GRAMMAR. 

AN ELEMENTARY GRAMMAR OF THE ANCIENT EGYPTIAN LANGUAGE. By P. le 
Page Renouf. 3d edition. London: Bagster and Sons, 1893. 

MANUEL DE LA LaNcuE Ecyprienne. Par Victor Loret. Paris: E. Leroux, 

1879. ; 
AEGYPTISCHE GRAMMATIK. By Dr. A. Erman, Berlin: Reuther, 1893. 

i grammars of the ancient Egyptian language have in a 
very brief period been recently issued from the press. They 

are in English, French and German, and bear testimony to the rise 
of a wide-spread interest in the ancient hieroglyphic literature. 
The work of Dr. Renouf, first published several years ago, has 

passed through three editions, with very little change. A few years 
since there was published, in parts, in Paris a comprehensive intro- 
duction to the Egyptian tongue by M. Victor Loret. The study of 
this ancient literature has long been pursued by French scholars. 
The work was dedicated to Gaston Maspero, the great master of this 

learning, and now Dr. Adolf Erman has issued in Berlin his ex- 
pected Egyptian Grammar, one of a series of Archaic classics. A 
comparison of these three cannot but prove interesting. 

First of all it may be noted that they afford an illustration of the 
different ways of regarding a subject by scholars in the three great 

modern languages. The English grammar is terse and clear. It 
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is just what a learner needs to guide his studies, Dr. Renouf is 
unquestionably one of the finest and most judicious of living 
Egyptologists. He has not made a show of his learning, but pro- 
vided for the average student a very helpful work. The French 
Grammar is fuller; it is bright and well illustrated by tables and 
examples. It is not very different in theory to that in English. It 
is certainly an admirable work, for a beginner, and also for one who 

has made some advance. The German Grammar shows great 
erudition, but is far less lucid. There is a perplexing theorizing 
which confuses the young student. The writer has fallen into a 
common vice with German grammarians, laying down rules which 
in all probability would have brought no little astonishment to an 
ancient Egyptian, of which rules the exceptions sometimes appear 
to be in the majority, as though language was made for grammar, 
rather than grammar for language. Nevertheless, it is a very valu- 
able and useful work and shows great research and care. 

A sad confusion, to which Dr. Erman’s grammar gives emphasis, 
has been introduced into our method of transliteration. The first 
letters of the alphabet, according to Renouf and Loret, are vowels. 

All along, until recently, scholars have so represented them. These 

Dr. Erman gives as consodnants. The evidence for this alteration is 

far from satisfactory and the effect disastrous, and after all there is 
no probability that the new pronunciation is nearer to that of 
ancient Egypt than the one we are accustomed to. In the first 
volume of Beni Hassan, as issued by the Egypt Exploration Fund, 
the transliteration was given according to the new fashion from 

Germany. This called forth a strong and wide-spread protest, in 
consequence of which the editors in the second volume very wisely 
returned to the system in use for the past twenty years. In the 
German grammar there is apparent an attempt to torture this an- 
cient language into classic grammatical forms. For example, there 

is an elaborate classification of the verbs. Dr. Renouf tells us, the 

Egyptian verb ‘thas no tenses, moods, voices or conjugations. 
Even the personal endings, so indispensable to the Indo-European 
and even to the Semitic verbs, are foreign to it.” And he is right. 
The fact is, as Dr. Renouf tells us in another place, ‘* the actual 
Egyptian word taken by itself is no part of speech, but within the 

limits of the notion which it represents is potentially noun, verb, 
adjective, adverb, etc.” We have all heard of a certain grammarian 
who formed thirty-six tenses for the Hieroglyphic verb! Although 
very much may be learned by working through Dr. Erman’s classi- 
fication of verbs into bi-literal, second radical doubled, third radical 

weak, etc., with his groups of formations, nevertheless we doubt the 
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value of this way of putting things. The Egyptian sentence in form 

is not very unlike the English. Clear expression is found by the 
use of particles rather than accidence. 

The hieroglyphic language was in use at any rate for the purpose 
of inscription, for a lengthy period of time. It must have under- 
gone much change. No one who has read some of the precepts of 

Ptah-hotep and then the tale of the Two Brothers, can have failed 

to observe the difference of style. Dr. Erman throughout his gram- 
mar distinguishes periods, the Old Egyptian, the Middle Egyptian, 
the Late Egyptian, etc. This greatly complicates the study, es- 
pecially for the learner. In the English and French grammars the 
attention is confined to the last period. This is the simpler way. 
Then when progress has been made it is far less difficult to study 
the peculiarities of earlier and of later composition. 
We are not ignorant of the boast of certain scholars ‘‘ that the 

new science of Egyptian grammar as it has been created by the 
German grammatical school in the last fifteen years does not yet 

exist in English.” Possibly not. And possibly the statement that 

it has been created is true. For it may be gravely questioned if any 

ancient Egyptian scholar would have recognized it. It undoubtedly 
is the result of research and ingenuity. It cannot but be the admir- 
ation of German erudition. But the value will be doubted by 
practical English students. And by English of course is meant 
those of the English tongue, Americans included. They do not 

care greatly for grammatical systematizing, except so far as it 

enables them to read and understand the wonderful ancient litera- 
ture. There are many fine English scholars who would find it 
difficult to parse a single sentence according to the rules of Lindley 
Murray, but who nevertheless are well acquainted with the use of 
their own wonderful tongue. We are not so sure of the value of 

mastering an ingenious system of complicated grammatical forms. 

Our great object is to apprehend the meaning of what is written. 
If we can get at that we are satisfied. Let it not be thought that we 
undervalue erudition, or fail to see the excellence of Dr. Erman’s 

work. But we are interested when looking at these three grammars 
at noting how characteristic they are of the peculiarities of national 
scholarship. Possibly to German thinkers the Berlin grammar 
towers above the others as the great pyramid over the small ones. 

We prefer the work in our language. Nevertheless we thank Dr. 
Erman for his work and have been much profited by going through 
it. Now our great need is a thoroughly good English Hieroglyphic 
Lexicon. J. Hunt Cooke. 
60, Coolhursit Road, London. 
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THE NAME OF PHAROAH. 

A RECENT number of the Proceedings of the Society of Biblical 
Archeology contains a letter from President P. LePage Renouf 

on the derivation of the name Pharoah. M. Renouf maintains that 
the name Pharoah cannot be of Egyptian origin, but it is a purely 
Hebrew designation of the king of Egypt: A corresponding case 
is our use of the term Mandarin applied to certain Chinese officials, 
a word that does not exist in the Chinese language. He finds both 
etymological and historical substantiation for his opinion. The 
word fer aa or rather peru aau is sometimes used to denote the king 

of Egypt. But the sign for fer, according to Brugsch, is poly- 

phonous and frequently has the value du, The investigations of 
M. Renouf lead him to believe that Ju was its regular value in 
divine and royal names. Moreover the name fa ura aa is a title 
given in the time of Ramases II. to foreign princes and only subse- 
quently adopted by the Egyptian kings, especially those of foreign 
origin, such as Darius, Cambyses and the Ptolemies. It seems im- 

possible, therefore, that the name Pharoah could have been thus de- 

rived. On the other hand, there exists ample basis for Hebraic 
derivation. The great variety of opinion that formerly prevailed 
concerning the meaning of the root fara‘ in the opening words of 
the Song of Barak and Deborah, Judges 5:2, has given place to a 

general concensus in favor of the Septuagint ‘‘to lead.” pir**ah 
occurs but twice, in Deut. 32:42, and in the above mentioned 

verse. Each passage is poetical and archaic, and in each the word 
clearly means ‘‘ princes.” Then, too, in Arabic we have a corres- 
ponding root affording like meaning. It is only strange that with 
these facts at hand we should have thought it at all necessary to go 

outside Semitic language for the etymology of Pharoah. The fact 
that the term Pharoah was not applied by the Egyptians to their 
kings until after the existence of foreign rulers among them is one of 
considerable significance from the view-point of the Hexateuchal 
analysis. 

SUBSCRIPTIONS TO THE EGYPT EXPLORATION FUND AND ITS 

ARCHAEOLOGICAL SURVEY FUND. 

To the Editor of Biblia: 

The price of the ATLAs, containing eight maps and valuable 
data, referred to in the April Brsi1a and elsewhere described in 

this number, will not exceed one dollar, and to our subscribers will, 
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I think, be placed at 75 cents. The annual meetings, in London, 

will be held in May, and the Annual Report will follow as early in 
the summer as possible. 
finally to press on April gth. 
tributed. 

Miss Paterson writes that Adnas went 

Beni Hasan JI has now been dis- 

Our American annual circular, and the request to 

‘*renew” subscriptions, will be dispatched to our members and 
friends in May. 

The following subscriptions from March 24 to April 20 to the 
Egypt Exploration Fund are gratefully acknowledged : 

G. F, Billings, Esq 

Carlos W. Shane, Esq.. . 

Rev. James Carter 
Miss Elizabeth Almy Slade. . 
JOHN S. KENNEDY, ESQ. 25.00 
Mrs. Wm. C. Wendte 

THE VERY REV. DEAN E. 

A. HOFFMAN, D.D.,D.C.L., 
LL.D. 

Mrs, J. H. Thorndike... . 

Rev. Gilbert F. Williams. . . 5.00 

Rev. C. D. Bradlee, D.D., Ph.D. 5.00 
Albert Aub, Esq 

Mrs. Arthur W. Benson. . . 

Mrs. Thomas E. Tootle. . . 

Prof. Angus ‘Crawford. . . 

F. W. Porter, Esq 
W. A. Stewart, Esq 

Mrs. James B. Ames. 

ALEX’R MacWHORTER 

MEMORIAL. 

MRS. GEORGE D. PHELPS. 

LEWIS A. SCOTT, ESQ.. . 

Rev. Edmund R. Woodman. . 

Enoch Lewis, Esq 

. $ 5.00 

5.00 

From March 24 to April 20 I have received, very thankfully, 

these subscriptions to the Archzological Fund: 

Rev. James Carter 

The Very Rev. Dean E. 

Hoffman, D.D.,D.C,L.,LL.D. 10.00 

Albert Aub, Esq 5.00 

Mrs, Thomas E. Tootle. . . . 5.00 

W. A. Stewart, Esq. . . . 

Mrs. James B. Ames 

Lewis A. Scott, Esq.. . . 

Enoch Lewis, Esq 

- + $ 5.00 

5.00 

5.00 

Wo. C. WINsLow. 

525 Beacon St., Boston, April 20, 1894. 

PALESTINE EXPLORATION FUND. 

A FTER all the delay which I have more than once mentioned 
in these pages, the firman has been granted, and the almost 

overpowering news has been received that excavations are to begin 
at once at Jerusalem, and continue for two years. No details of the 

plan have as yet reached me, and the Secretary wrote immediately 
to give us the good news. I can only print here the official intima- 
tion which appeared in the London papers: 

‘*The chairman of the committee of this society, Mr. James 
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Glaisher, has received a letter from the foreign office informing him 
that a firman has been granted by the Sultan, conveying permission 
for two years to excavate at Jerusalem, on certain conditions, simi- 

lar to those under which other firmans have been issued. The com- 
mittee will, therefore, be able to resume the excavations which 

proved so successful under Sir Charles Warren (then Lieut. War- 

ren) in the years 1867-1870. The work has been entrusted to Mr. 
Frederick Jones Bliss, who has lately concluded the examination of 
the mound called Tell el Hesy, the account of which, under the title - 

of ‘A Mound of Many Cities,’ has just appeared.’ He is already in 
Jerusalem, and will commence proceedings without delay.” 

One of the first thoughts which arise is that so extensive a per- 
mission shows a great change on the part of the Sultan. The La- 
chish firman was for six weeks only, and the Turkish official whose 
presence was necessary before work could begin, did not appear 
until five of these six weeks had passed. This showed extreme re- 
luctance on the part of the government, and it is not strange that Mr. 

Flinders Petrie, accustomed to the official sanction in Egyptian 
work, should give up his position. The firman was extended, how- 
ever, and Mr. Bliss took up the work and carried it to a successful 
result. 
Now we have a firman for two years given, after great delay to be 

sure, but for a generous term, and it will be most gratefully received 

and utilized. 
Perhaps some may have expected another place to be named, but 

there can be no doubt of the wisdom which has designated Jerusa- 
lem, for the city is being renewed so rapidly that extensive excava- 
tions will soon become impossible. Let them be done at once, then, 
and at a later day Shechem and other places which have been 
thought of may have due attention. 

It would be too much to say that this is evidence of a full change 
of attitude toward excavations on behalf of the Sultan, but I was 

assured last summer by a Jerusalem Effendi that the feeling had 
changed and that such work would be no longer opposed. 

Those who are excavating on the sites of Babylon and Persepolis 
report to the same effect and the University of Pennsylvania feels 
that it has been handsomely treated by the Sultan. 

Of course the question of funds for this Jerusalem work arises at 
once, and I am hoping that Americans will see to it that their 
countryman Bliss is encouraged in the undertaking. Reports of his 
work will appear in the Quarterly Statements sent to subscribers of 
$2.50 and upward. 

At the recent meeting of the American Oriental Society, Presi- 
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dent Gilman of Johns Hopkins called attention to the fact that the 
one hundredth anniversary of the birthday of Edward Robinson was 
about to occur, and suggested that some appropriate notice of it 
might be taken by the Oriental Society and Union Theological Sem- 
inary. It is certainly to be desired that the marvelously successful 
work of this pioneer of Palestine exploration should be duly recog- 
nized. 

Since my last report the following subscriptions have been wel- 

comed and forwarded : 

Rev. J. T. Barber Prof. J. W. Beardslee 
Anonymous H. E. Pierrepont 

Wellesley College... ... E. F. Billings 
Prof. J. H. Thayer, D.D.. . Samuel Small 

Toronto Y. M.C. A 

Mrs. R. B. Scott... .... Edwin Parsons 

George Vaux Rev. J. Easter,Ph.D.. . . . . 5 00 

Rev. J. M. P. Otts, LL.D... Rev. B, R. Wilburn 
S. Wilson Fisher J. W. McNary 
D. L. Webster Prof. F. S. Goodrich 

Carlos W. Shane G. F. Billings 

THEODORE F. WRIGHT, 

42 Quincy St., Cambridge, Mass. U. S. Secretary. 

BOOK REVIEW. 

Is Moses SCIENTIFIC? First CHAPTER OF GENESIS TESTED BY LATEST DIs- 
COVERIES OF SCIENCE. By Rev. P. E. Kipp. 

We took up this book at first with some misgivings. Books of 
this character are apt to try to prove too much. There is no doubt, 

however, but that it is necessary to reconcile the discoveries of 

geology, archeology, astronomy, etc., with the Mosaic six days, 

and to bring the facts of science into harmony with the teachings of 
Scripture. This has been attempted a great many times, from the 
days of Chalmers, whose scheme of reconciliation was published in 
1804, down to the present day, and by men who had more religious 
zeal than scientific knowledge. 

It is true, the Bible can stand alone without human aid. But 

whenever science proves a helpmeet to the Bible, it fulfills its 
highest purpose, giving sacred truth a firmer hold on the world of 
beings whose faith needs support from every source within its range. 
We do not all believe with Herbert Spencer that the universe is 

the outcome of ‘ta change from an indefinite, incoherent homo- 
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geneity to a definite, coherent heterogenity through continuous 
differentiation and integrations.” Science has brought to light 

laws of forces, movements, and systems, among material things, 

and laws of progress in individual life, the kingdoms of life, and the 
earth’s history, and it tends to establish the unity of all in one plan. 
On some things in Genesis science can speak with as much assur- 
ance as can revelation. 

Mr. Kipp has endeavored to bring out the whole truth of Genesis 

and the whole truth of science upon the same subjects, and place 
them side by side. The author is evidently well posted in scientific 
thought, and he follows the latest authorities like Dawson, Dana, 

Winchell, Wright and LeConte, and he also relies upon the 
original language of Genesis, and not translation, as he believes that 
the Bible is not always to be construed in its literal sense. Mr. 
Kipp writes in a brisk, breezy style, and his work will rank as 

one of the best on the subject. We doubt not, however, but that it 

will meet with some adverse criticism, owing to some of the author’s. 
very liberal statements. 

(New York and Chicago: Fleming H. Revell Co. 12mo, 
pp. 239. Price $1.25). 

ANCIENT SHIPS. By Cecil Torr, M.A. 

The ancient ships referred to in this work are those used in the 
Mediterranean between 1000 B. C. and 1000 A. D. There have 
been a good many works on the subject, mostly careless compila- 
tions, and founded upon very slender knowledge of the subject. 
Mr. Torr’s is the first really scientific and accurate work on the 
subject. Nearly two hundred ancient writers are quoted and veri- 
fied, and the references are given in the original Greek and Latin. 
A full account is given of the various kinds of ships, the materials 
from which they were constructed, the structure of the hull, the 
rigging, flags, lights, ship’s boat, etc. 

While Prof. Torr acknowledges that modern books on the sub- 
ject, beginning with a work, ‘* De Re Navalis,” published in 1536, 
have been useful in directing his study, he denies any value, on the 
whole, to their conclusions. Until within recent years authors who 
took up this theme had a very narrow round of ancient authorities 
to deal with. But in 1834 a number of slabs were unearthed in the 
Piraeus, which proved to be inventories of the Athenian dock-yards. 
What could be deciphered of these inscriptions was of great value. 
For example, they showed that the first departure of the Athenians 
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from the general model of a warship with three banks of oars was 
about 431 B. C., when four-banked ships were built, followed some 
years later with ships of five banks. An inscription also substan- 
tiated the statement, previously incredible, that ships with thirty 
banks of oars were not unknown. 

The art of rowing can first be discerned upon the Nile. Boats 
with oars are represented in the earliest pictorial monuments of 
Egypt, dating from about 2500 B.C. The military enterprises 
of the kings of the XVIIIth and XIXth dynasties led to the con- 
sideration of fleets, both on the Red Sea and the Mediterranean. 

Herodotos and Diodorus both mention the fleet of long vessels, 

or ships of war, fitted out by Sesostris on the Arabian Gulf. They 
were four hundred in number; and there is every reason to believe 
that the trade, and the means of protecting it by ships of war, 
existed there at least as early as the XIIth dynasty, about 2000 years 
before our era. The earliest Egyptian drawings show boats con- 
structed of sawn planks, and having sails as well as numerous oars. 
So far as can be learned from ancient sculptures, the galleys of the 
Mediterranean at the dawn of civilization appear to have been open, 

at least in the middle portion; to have been built with keel, ribs, 
and planking, and to have been strengthened cross-wise by the 

numerous benches on which the rowers sat. In the contemporary 

relief representing a battle fought in the Mediterranean about 1000 
B. C the Egyptian war-ships have from twelve to twenty-two 
rowers apiece. Some of the war galleys on the Nile were furnished 
with forty-four oars, twenty-two being represented on each side; 
which, allowing for the steerage and prow, would require their 
total length to be about 120 feet. 

The earliest powers having efficient fleets were the Pheenicians, 
Carthaginians, Persians and Greeks; the latter, according to 

Thucydides, having fleets as early as the beginning of the seventh 
century B. C. Two-banked war ships were in use in Pheenicia 
about 7oo B. C. as we find from Assyrian sculptures, and Herodotos 
states that three-banked war-ships were built in Egypt about 600 

B. C. For more than two hundred years the three-banked ships 
were the largest war-ships afloat. Pliny states that ships of four, 
five, and six banks were first built at Chalcedon and Salamis and 

Syracuse respectively ; and then Alexander the great made the ad 
vance to ten banks. A whole fleet of seven-banked ships was built 
by Alexander on the Euphrates in 323 B. C. A sixteen-banked 
ship was in the Macedonian fleet, and her arrival in the Tiber in 

167 B. C. was a memorable event. 
War-ships of still greater size are ascribed to Ptolemy Philadel- 
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' phos and Ptolemy Philopator, who ruled Egypt from 285 to 247 
B. C., and from 222 to 204 B. C., respectively. The dimensions of 
one of the great merchant ships employed in carrying corn from 
Egypt to Italy about 150 A. D., was 180 feet long, while her 
breadth was slightly more than a fourth of her length, and her 
draft was forty-three feet and a half. The well-known dimensions 
in the Hebrew version of the legend of the flood, 450 feet in length, 
75 feet broad, and 45 feet in depth, apparantly belong to the ark 
that has been introduced there under Egyptian influence, and not to 
the ship that has been implicitly retained there with other features 
of the Babylonian versions. The earlier Babylonian version in the 
inscriptions states that the depth of the ship was the same as the 
breadth. The authors of the Septuagint had every means of ascer- 
.taining the exact sense of the word ddA, or ark, since it was of 

Egyptian origin; and they translated it by the word &rbotos, or 
chest. This was an epithet of Apameia in Phrygia, and upon coins 
of that city the ark of Noah is represented as a rectangular chest. 

But little is known of the tonnage of ancient ships. Some of the 
largest merchant ships, however, were 250 tons and over About 
40 A. D. the Vatican obelisk and its pedestal were brought from 
Egypt to Italy in a ship which must have been over 1,300 tons. 
Pine, cypress and cedar were used in making the hulls, oak was 

used in the keels, and in the inside of the hull, pine, elm, ash, mul- 

berry, lime, and acacia were employed. The seams were calked 
by filling them with tow and other packing, and protected with a 
coat of tar or wax. 

In every age and every district of the ancient world the method of 
rigging ships was substantially the same; and this method is first 
depicted by the Egyptians. Their ships on the Red Sea about 1250 
B. C., had one mast with two yards, and carried one large square 
sail. The sail used generally to be made of linen. The genuine 
anchor with a pair of arms was reckoned among the inventions of 
Anacharsis, about 600 B. C. 

This book of Mr. Torr’s shows a wide reading, and treats of the 
character of ships themselves. It is but a portion, however, of a 
complete history of shipping for 2,000 years, which he hopes some 
day to complete. The reader will find in this book an immense 
amount of information to be found nowhere else. It is illustrated 
with eight plates. 

(Cambridge University Press, 1894. New York: Macmillan & 
Co., 66 Fifth Avenue. pp. 139. Price $3.00). 

There has recently been issued from the press of Messrs. Rad- 
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habas Atmaram Sagoon, Booksellers and Publishers, Bombay, a 
small duodecimo volume, entitled ‘‘ The Orion, or Researches into 

the Antiquity of the Vedas,” by Bal Tangadhar Tilak, B.A., 
LL.B., Law Lecturer in Plerder, Poona. 

This little book will no doubt create a sensation among scholars. 
Upon astronomical data recorded in Vedic literature, the author 
considers that the age of the Rig-Veda cannot be less than 4000 

years before Christ, and that the express records of early Hindu an- 
tiquity point back to 6000 before Christ. 

Tilak’s method consists in carefully sifting the astronomical state- 
ments of the two most characteristic strata of Vedic literature, the 

period of the hymns, and the period of the so-called Brahmanas, 

the time when the formal Vedic sacrifices were developed and 
rigidly defined, and he proves conclusively that the vernal equinox 
of the earliest period, the period of the Rig-Veda, was in the con- 
stellation of Orion, 7. ¢., 4500 years ago, while in the second period 
the vernal equinox had receded to the Pleiades, pointing with equal 
certainty to about 2500 B. C. 

The strength of Mr. Tilak’s investigation lies in the conclusive 
proof which he adduces. 

ARCHAEOLOGICAL NOTES. 

The origin of the aboriginal inhabitants of Australia is a question 
which has long perplexed the student of ethnology. The numerous 

Australian idioms seem all related to each other, but have no affinity 
with any other linguistic family. 

In a paper recently read before the Victoria Institute by John 
Fraser, LL.D., F.R.S., on ‘* The Origin of the Australian Race,” 

the author considers : 

1. The Australian indigenes are of the Hamite race. 
2. The original seat of the Hamites was the land of Chaldza, on 

the lower course of the Euphrates and Tigris. 
3. Ata very early period the Hamites spread themselves eastwards 

and occupied the northern shores of the Persian Gulf, proba- 
bly as far as the Indus; these are the Eastern Ethiopians of 
Herodotus. To the west they occupied the habitable parts 
of Arabia, and the land of Canaan, and the valley of the 
Nile; these are the Western Ethiopians. Both of these di- 
visions I shall call the pure Hamites of the Dispersion, for 
up to the time of that catastrophe, they seem to have dwelt 
united in their own territories, and in peace. 
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4. After the Dispersion, the Chaldean lands under the topo- 
graphical names of Sumir and Akkad and at a later time of 
Babylonia, were the scene of many changes of rule and 
population which caused a strange mixture there of the blood 
and languages of Hamites and Shemites, Aryans and 
Turanian Scyths. 

5. About 1545 B. C., the whole country was overrun and taken 
possession of by Arabians who established a dynasty. 

6. The waves of conquest and convulsion which had swept over 
these lands previously, and especially this last conquest by 
the Arabians, had the effect of driving out from Babylonia, 
in successive streams, considerable portions of its conglom- 
erate populations which I shall call mixed Kushites; these 
streams flowed both to the east and to the west, but 

principally, as I think, eastwards into India, a portion of 
which was already occupied by the pure Hamites, the half- 
brothers of these Kushite immigrants. These Hamites and 
Kushites are the aboriginal races of India. 

7. The later Aryan conquerors, on entering India, found these 
aboriginals in possession, and after a fierce struggle, drove 
them into the mountain fastnesses of the Himalayas and the 
Deccan. 

8. This Aryan conquest and subsequent movements in the Indian 
Peninsula made the aboriginal black races (such portions of 
them as could not remain either as subjects or in security 
among the mountains) move farther on into the Eastern 
Peninsula, from which, in course of time, being still impelled 

by movements of races in that quarter, they passed into the 
East Indian Islands and Australia. 

These propositions, if they can be maintained, would prove that 
the blacks of Australia and the blacks of Africa, although now far 
apart, are of the same origin, and that their remote ancestors once 
occupied the same territory at the head of the Persian Gulf. 

The Rev. Dr. W. C. Winslow, on nomination by Sir J. William 
Dawson, F. R. S., of Montreal, has been elected a corresponding 
member of the Nova Scotia Historical Society. Sir William is a 
true son of Nova Scotia, and some of the Massachusetts Winslows 

of the last century helped to build up that Province. 
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Mr. E. W. Blatchford writes to Dr. Winslow from Luxor, 

Egypt, as follows: ‘‘I appreciate your constant interest in the 
Egypt Exploration Fund, and allow me again to thank you for your 
kind introductory note to M. Naville. We enjoyed a deeply inter- 
esting visit to him to-day at his work at Deir-el-Bahri. Our 
felucca early carried us across the Nile to where our donkeys 
awaited us. After a visit to the Temple of Kurnah, and to those 

of the most interesting of the Tombs of the Kings, we left our 
party and took rest with lunch, and with our donkey boys as guides 
we descended the winding mountain valley, and an hour’s ride 
brought us to M. Naville’s offices, surrounding a court, on the gate- 

way of which floated the flag, ‘Egypt Exploration Fund’—a wel- 
come sight. Back of this, on the edge of the cliff, whose perpen- 

dicular walls rise a thousand feet above him, M. Naville, with his 

staff of surveyors, draughtsmen, copyists and inspectors, and a gang 
of over two hundred Arabs, is uncovering this wonderful terraced 
temple which the warrior Queen Hatasu designed some sixteen 

hundred years before our era. With kind interest, M. Naville and 
members of his staff conducted us through the excavated rooms. 
Already several discoveries make this excavation unique in the 
history of Egyptian work, and the forthcoming volume of the Egypt 
Exploration Fund will be one of rare attraction to the many scien- 
tists who watch these developments. 

Only study of the historic relations of this nation, and personal 
observation of the work of exploration reveals the real value of this 

branch of archeological science. Before this trip I had hardly ap- 
preciated the great value of the Monuments of Egypt as illustrating 
and confirming Old Testament History and Prophecy. I sincerely 
hope that the support of the Fund may be continued, and its means 
largely increased.” 

At the March meeting of the Victoria Institute Prof. Prestwich, 
F.R.S., read a paper on ‘*A Possible Cause for the Origin of the 
Tradition of the Flood.” 

In it the author described at considerable length the various 

phenomena which had come under his observation during long 

years of geological research in Europe and the coasts of the Medi- 
terranean. Among these he specially referred to having found the 
flints of the drift to be of two classes, one with bones of animals, 

carved, and interspersed with the remains of man, and the other, 

which he termed the Rubble-drift, containing bones of animals of 

all ages and kinds in vast heaps. He cited the confirmatory opin- 
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ions on this point of Prof. Geikie, F.R.S., a member of the 
Institute, and drew special attention to the geological surroundings 
of these strange deposits, and the manner in which the bones were 
found. He then referred to phenomena in regard to Raised Sea 
Beaches, and the constant occurrence of ‘* Head,” the large masses 

of transported rock, loam and Loess, covering the high plains in 

Southern Russia, and the Ossiferous Breccias in various localities. 

From the circumstances attending these and their surroundings he 
said he had been forced to the conclusion that all their phenomena 
were ‘only explicable upon the hypothesis of a widespread and 
short submergence followed by early re-elevation, and this hy- 

pothesis satisfied all the important conditions of the problem,” 
which forced one to recognize that there had been a submergence of 

continental dimensions. The age of Man was held to be divided 
into Paleolithic and Neolithic, and he considered rightly so. He 
concluded by suggesting that thus there seemed cause for the origin 
of a tradition of a flood. 

The paper was followed by reference to a communication from 

Sir W. Dawson, F.R.S., who welcomed the paper as confirming 
his conclusion come to on geological and palentological grounds of 
a physical break in the anthropic age. The evidence for this was 
afforded by the cave remains and from a vast quantity of other 
sources. 

The Museum at Gizeh contains a vast accumulation of the an- 

tiquities which have rewarded the assiduous explorations made in 
Egypt of late years, and antiquarians have naturally been anxious 
that the structure in which they are placed should be placed in a 
safe condition, as it is now of most inferior and unsafe condition. 

In it has been placed a vast amount of material which could never 
be replaced, and much of which has been but superficially studied 

and described. It will, therefore, be a matter of congratulation to 
scholars at large, and to Bible students particularly, to know that 
the finances of Egypt, under English nursing, have sufficiently im- 
proved to permit of an appropriation of $500,000 to construct a 
proper and fire-proof building, in which existing treasures can be 

stored, and which will also accommodate those which are sure to 

reward the explorations now going on. The care of records and 
antiquities of unquestioned value is a duty which rests heavily upon 
the present generation, and we are glad to note every evidence of a 
proper recognition of that responsibility. Much as the physical 

sciences depend on progressive inventions and discoveries, we can 
by no means afford to neglect the records of the past. 
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The Egypt Exploration Fund was found- 
ed in 1888, under the Presidency of the 

late Sir Erasmus Wilson, for the purpose 
of promoting historical investigation in 
Egypt by means of systematically con- 
ducted explorations; particular attention 
being given tos ites which may be expected 
to throw light upon obscure questions of 
history and topography, such as those con- 
nected with the mysterious ‘‘ Hyksos” Pe- 
riod, the district of the Hebrew Sojourn, 

the route of the Exodus, and the early 
sources of Greek art. The work is con- 
ducted on the principle of careful exam- 
ination of all details, and the preservation 

of objects discovered. These objects are 
of supreme value and interest, inasmuch as 
they illustrate the international influences 
of Egyptian, Greek, Assyrian, and Syrian 
styles; afford reliable data for the history 
of comparative art; reveal ancient techni- 

cal processes; and yield invaluable exam- 

amples of art in metal, stone and pottery. 
The metrological results are also of the 
highest importance, some thousands of 
weights having already been found. 

Since the establishment of the Fund in 
1888, explorers have been sent out every 
season; two and sometimes three, con- 
ducting excavations in different parts of 
the Delta. Each year has been fruitful 
in discoveries. Much has been done 
towards the restoration of the ancient 
topography of Lower Egypt. The sites of 
famous cities have been identified; the 
Biblical Pithom-Succoth, the city of 
Goshen, the Greek Naukratis, and Daph- 

nee (identical with the Biblical Tahpanhes), 

have been discovered; statues and inscrip- 

tions, papyri, and beautiful objects in 
bronze and other metals, as well as in por- 

celuin and glass, have been found; new 

and unexpected light (not less momentous, 
or likely to produce less effect on contem- 

porary criticism, than the discoveries of 
Dr. Schliemann in Greece and Asia) has 

been cast upon the ancient history of the 
Hebrews; the early stages of the Route of 
the Exodus have been defined, and its di- 

rection determined; three most important 

chapters in the history of Greek art and 

Greek epigraphy have been recovered from 
y the ruins of Naukratis, Daphne, and Bu- 

bastis ; and, lastly, a series of archseologi- 
cal surveys of the Delta have been made, 
most of the larger mounds having been 
measured and planned. 

Excavations have been carried on princi- 
pally at the following sites: 

1883.—Tel-el-Maskhutah, in the Wady 
Tumilat, discovered to be Pithom-Succoth, 
one of the ‘‘store-cities” built by the 
forced labor of the Hebrew colonists in the 

time of the Oppression. This discovery 
and its results are described by the ex- 
plorer, Dr. Naville, in his Memoir entitled 

‘*The Store-City of Pithom,” in which the 
route of the Exodus is laid down. 

1884.—San (the Tanis of the Septuagint 
and the Greek historians, the Zoan of the 
Bible). This excavation and its results 

are described by Mr. W. M. Flinders Petrie, 

in the Memoir entitled ‘‘Tanis, Part I.” 

1885.— Tell Nedireh, in the Western Del- 

ta, discovered to be Naukratis. This ex- 

cavation and its results are described by 
Mr. W. M. F. Petrie, in the Memoir en- 
titled ‘‘Naukratis, Part I.,” by Mr. Ernest 

A. Gardner, Director of the English School 
at Athens, in “Naukratis, Part II.” 

Also, Saft-el-Henneh, discovered to be 

the town of Goshen, capital of the an- 

cient district of that name. This excava- 

tion and its results are described by Dr. 
Naville, in the Memoir entitled ‘‘Goshen, 
and the Shrine of Saft-el-Henneh.”’ 

1886.— Tell Defenneh, the Biblical ‘“Tah- 
panhes” and the “Daphne” of the classi- 
cal historians; also Zell Nebesheh, site of 
the ancient city of ‘‘Am,” a dependency 

of Tanis. These excavations and their re- 

sults are described by Mr. W. M. Flinders 
Petrie, and his coadjutor, Mr. F. Llewel- 

lyn Griffith, in a Memoir entitled ‘‘ Daph- 
nex,” included in ‘‘ Tanis, Part II.” 

1887— Tell-el- Yahudiyeh, an ancient Jew- 
ish settlement, now shown to be the City 

of Onias described by Josephus. Memoir 
entitled ‘‘ Onias,” by Dr. Naville. 
» 1889-90.—T7e Basta, the Pi-Beseth of 
the Bible and Bubastis of the Greeks. Dr. 
Naville located the precise site of this 
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once magnificent red granite temple, and 
disinterred its grand ruins, abounding in 

superb monolithic shafts, massive archi- 
traves, sculptured blocks, broken colossi, 

bas-relief groups, etc., inscribed with val- 
uable hieroglyphic texts. The inscrip- 
tions touching the Pyramid era, Hyksos 
kings, and the warlike XVIIIth Dynasty 
(that of Thothmes) are of absorbing interest 
to the historian, while the inscriptions re- 
lating to the period of Joseph are of thrill- 
ing interest to every student of the Bible. 
‘‘Bubastis, Part I,” by Dr. Naville. ‘‘Part 

II,” to appear in the Spring of 1892. 
1890-91.—Ahnas-el-Medineh, the Hanes 

of the Bible and Heracleopolis of the 
Greeks. Its mounds were excavated by 
Dr. Naville. Memoir to appear. 

1891-8. — Tell Mokdam and Deir el- 
Bahari (Thebes). The latter is a most im- 
portant place for explorative labors. 
1890-8.—The Archeological Survey of 

Egypt, for which a special fund is provid- 
ed; under the charge of Messrs. Percy 
Newberry, Buchman, J. E. Newberry 
and Carter. This work is of incom- 
parable importance in many ways, and, 
in view of the wholesale and irrepar- 
able destruction of sculptures by Arabs, 
tourists and dealers in ‘‘Antiques,” needs 

to be pushed vigorously forward. The fa- 
mous tombs of Beni Hasan were thor- 

oughly explored in ’90-’92, and in ’92-’93 
the historic antiquities from Beni Hassan 
southward will be surveyed, traced, photo- 
graphed, copied, etc. The tombs at El 
Bersheh having been exhaustively surveyed, 
the Survey officials proceeded to Tel el- 
Amarna, the scene of the discovery of the 
famous tablets. Dr. Winslow outlined 

the purpose of the survey in Bret for 

November, 1890; and in January 1892, 
> he described some of the ‘‘results” at Beni 

Hasan. A ‘‘Special Extra Report,” illus- 
trated, edited by Miss Edwards, published 

in December, 1891, treated of the work 

there accomplished. The first memoir of 
the Survey is a quarto with thirty-one 
beautiful plates and illustrations (four in 
colors), treating of the sculptures and pic- 
tures of Beni Hasan, in which the social 

and business life of men, 2500 B. C., is 
richly depicted, and the facial types afford 
an ethnographical study, very valuable and 
altogether unique. A volume on El Ber- 
sheh, or at least one on Tel el-Amarna, 

will be published. Special circulars relat- 
ing to the Survey may be had from Dr. 
Winslow. 
The foregoing outlines the most impor- 

tant labors of the Fund. An annual quarto 
volume with elaborate illustrations and 
photographs, is published. All donors or 
subscribers of not less than $5.00 receive 
this volume of the season and annual report; 
previous volumes are $5.00 each. See the 
advertisement elsewhere. The Survey vol- 
ume of the season is sent to all subscribers 
or donors of not less than $5.00 to the 
Survey. Said Dr. W. Hayes Ward, edi- 

tor, in The Independent, ‘‘The annual 

volumes published are abundant remuner- 
ation to the subscribers of five dollars.’’ 
Three hundred men of the highest rank in 
education, theology, letters, business and 
public life—among them eighty-nine 
university or college presidents — have 
subscribed to the American Branch of the 
Fund. For circulars and all information 
address the Honorary Secretary and Treas- 
urer, for the United States, Rev. W. O, 

Winslow, 525 Beacon street, Boston. 
LOOAL HONORARY SEORETARIES FOR THE UNITED STATES. 

Mrs. Howard Crosby, New York. 
Mrs. Eugene A. Hoffman, New York. 
Rev. Henry L. Myrick, ‘Briar Cliff,” 

Sing Sing, N. Y. 
Mrs. George D. Phelps, 441 Park Avenue, 

New York city. 
Rev. Frederick W. Taylor, D.D.,Spring- 

field, Ill. 
Mrs. Simeon B. Chittenden, Brooklyn. 
A. M. Switzer, 2001 Centre Avenue, Bay 

City, Mich. 

Mrs. Thomas E. Stillman, 95 Joralemon 
Street, Brooklyn. 

Mrs. J. H. Devereux, 869 Euclid Ave., 
Cleveland, Ohio. 

Prof. Chas. C. Stearns, 126 Garden St., 
+ Hartford, Conn. 

Prof. Hiram H. Bice, Ph. D., F. » G. 8. 
St. Joseph, Mo. 

President James Marshall, DD. Cedar 
Rapids, Iowa. 
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Dr. Reuben G. Thwaites, Madison. Wis. 
Rev. Camden Cobern, Ph. D., 18 North 

street, Ann Arbor, Michigan. 
“Te Howard Osgood, D.D., Rochester, 

Prof. James R. Jewett, Brown Univer- 
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Prof. James M. Hoppin, D.D. New Ha- 
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South Jefferson St., Dayton, Ohio. 
Hon. Charles H. 8. Davis, M.D., Ph.D., 

Meriden, Conn. 
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St., Buffalo, N. Y. 
Henry Phipps, Jr., Esq., Pittsburgh, Pa. 
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Palestine Exploration Fund. 

A Society for the accurate and system- 
atic investigation of the Archeology, the 
Topography, the Geology and Physical 
Geography, the Manners and Customs of 
the Holy Land, for Biblical Illustration. 

This Society was founded on June 22d, 
1865. It was established on the basis of 
the following rules: 

1. It was not to be a religious society. 
That is to say, it should not be pledged to 
advocate or attack any form of creed or 
doctrine. 

2. It was not to adopt or to defend any 
side in controversial matters. 

8. It wasto be conducted on strictly 
scientific principles. 

These ruies have been jealously observed. 
The best guarantee of the accuracy of 

the work done is found in the names and 

positions of the officers who have carried 
it out, and the travelers who have sent 
their observations to the committee. 
Among them are Col. Sir Charles Wilson, 
K.C.B., K.C.M.G., F.R.S., LL. D., 
R. E. (the Surveyor of Jerusalem and Si- 
nai); Col. Sir Charles Warren, K. C. B., 

G. C.M.G., F. R.8., R. E., (who con- 

ducted the excavations of Jerusalem) ; Ma- 

jor Conder, R. E. (surveyor of Western 
Palestine and of the east country, unfin- 
ished); Lieut.-Col. Kitchener, C. M. G., R. 
E. (Surveyor with Major Conder); the late 
Major Anderson, C. M. G., R. E; Canon 
Tristram, F. R. 8.; Dr. Selah Merrill, of 

Andover, Mass., etc. 
Although the Society is not a religious 

society, strictly so-called, its work neces- 
serily possesses unusual interest for Bible 
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Students, and its chief supporters are found 
among ministers of all denominations, who 
see in the results of the explorations many 
confirmations of the truth of Scripture. 

In the course of its twenty-five years 
existence, the Society, with limited funds 

at its disposal, has done an immense 

amount of work, and published the results 
in books, papers, maps, plans, and photo- 
graphs, primarily for the benefit of its sub- 
scribers, and also forthe advantage of all 

students of the Sacred Scriptures. 
Among its chief operations may be enu- 

merated the following: 
1, Exoavations at JERUSALEM.—These 

were conducted by Sir Charles Warren, and 

had very remarkable results. Jerusalem 
is now proved to be, to a great extent, a 

buried city, and the ancient foundations 
are in some places a hundred feet under- 
ground. The walls of the Temple enclo- 
sure have been examined down to the 
foundations, and the original masons’ 

marks found upon them. The contours of 
the rock, showing how the city was situa- 

ted before the valleys were filled up, have 
been ascertained. In consequence of these 
and other discoveries, many questions of 
the topography relating to the city, and all 
Bible references to locality, are now viewed 
in an entirely new light. 

2. @THe RECovERY OF THE SYNAGOGUE 
oF GALILEE, BY Str CHARLes WiLson.— 

Ruins of many of these structures still 
stand in Galilee. They have all been 
planned and sketched, and are found to be 
of considerable architectural pretensions. 

As one consequence of this work, the 

building in which Christ taught the peo- 
ple could now be reconstructed. 

3. Tur Survey or Western Patgs- 
TINE.—This work, occupying ten years in 
all, was carried out by Major Conder, R. 

E., and Lieut.-Col. Kitchener, R. E. Be- 
fore it was undertaken, many parts of Pal- 

estine were a terra incognita—some names 

were filled in conjecturally, and 360 Scrip- 
ture places remained unknown. But now 
We possess a map, on the scale of one inch 
to the mile, as beautifully and accurately 

executed as the Ordnance map of England. 

In the course of the Survey, 172 of the 
missing Biblical sites were recovered and 
fixed. 2 

4, Tne AronmoLocioaL Work or M. 
CLERMONT-GANNEAU.—Among the illustra- 
tions of the Bible furnished by this learned 
archeologist may be mentioned the Dis- 
covery of the Stone Zoheleth, the Inscrip- 
tions at Tell Jezer (Gezer), the Inscribed 

Stone of Herod’s Temple, the ‘‘Vase of 
Bezetha,” the ancient Jewish cemeteries at 

Jerusalem and Jaffa, &c. The famous 

Moabite Stone, the Inscribed Stone at the 
Pool of Siloam, the Hamath Inscriptions, 
and the Cromlechs and Dolmens of Moab, 
are additional archeological discoveries of 
incomparable importance due to other ex- 

plorers. Casts and drawings of these may 
be seen in the collection of the Fund. 

5. Tue Geroroaicat Survey or Pat- 
ESTINE, BY Pror. E. Hutt, F. R. 8.—The 

geological facts here brought forward 
throw new light on the route of the Exo- 
dus, and afford conclusive proof that the 
Cities of the Plain are not under the waters 
of the Dead Sea. 

These paragraphs will give the reader 
some little—very little—idea of the Socie- 
ty’s work in the past. Before us lies work 
not less important. 

nS 

6. EXoAvVATIONS AT JERUSALEM are Car- 

ried on from time to time as opportunity 

permits, and recorded in the Quarterly 
Statement, as also are all discoveries made 
during alterations in and outside the city. 

7. Tue Survey on tHE East oF Jor- 
DAN, where scores of Scripture sites remain 
to be fixed, and where the country is even 
more thickly strewn with ruins than on the 
western side, is to be resumed when per- 

mission can be obtained. It was amid the 

ruins of Dibon, by the brook Arnon, that 

the Moabite Stone was found in 1868, and 
at Amman Major Conder discovered the 
Sassanian monument which is described in 
his book, ‘‘Heth and Moab,” as well as an 

immense number of rude stone monu- 

ments. It is confidently believed that a 
complete survey of this region would lead 
to very important discoveries. 
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8. Inquizy into Manners anp Cvus- 
toms, Proverss, LeGenps, TRADITIONS, 
&o.—Readers of Dr. Thomson’s ‘The 
Land and the Book,” or the Rev. J. Neil’s 
‘*Palestine Explored,” will know what 

vivid light is often thrown upon whole 
classes of Scripture Texts by the accurate 
observation of the customs of the people. 
Yet no inquiry of this sort has ever been 
carried out systematically over the entire 
country. The Committee have made ar- 
rangements for conducting a scientific ex- 
amination into all these points by means of 
questions drawn up with the ussistance of 
the President of the Archeological Soci- 
ety, the Director of the Folk-Lore Society, 
the Secretary of the Bible Society, and 
others. > 

It cannot be too strongly urged that no 
time should be lost in pursuing the explo- 
rations, for the vandalism of the East, and 
the newly imported civilization of the 
West, together, are fast destroying what 
ever records of the past lie exposed. 

All subscriptions for the Palestine Ex- 

ploration Fund should be sent to Prof. 

Theodore F. Wright, 42 Quincy Street, 
Cambridge, Mass., the Honorary Secre- 

% tary of the Fund for the United States, 

and from whom all circulars and other in- 
formation in regard to the fund can be 
obtained. vas 
1. Subscribers of five dollars a year are en- 

titled to receive— 

(1) Post free the ‘‘Quarterly Statement,” 
which is the journal of the Society, 
and contains the reports of work done 
by its azents, and a record of all dis- 
coveries made in the Holy Land. 

(2) The maps published by the Society 
at a greatly reduced price. 

(3) Post free on application, a copy of 
the following works :— 
Schumacher’s “Pella, the First Retreat 

of the Christians.” 

Schumacher’s ‘‘ Ajlin ‘within the 

Decapolis.’” 
(4) Copies of the other books issued by 

the Society at reduced prices. 

2. Subscribers of $2.50 annually receive 
the “Quarterly Statements” free, and 
are entitled to the books and maps at 
the reduced price. 

MERIDEN, CONN. 

TyPis: 

Brsiia PuBLISHING Co., 

MDCCCXCIV. 
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ADVERTISEMENTS. 

THE ANCIENT EGYPTIAN 

BOOK OF THE DE 
Edited, with Introduction, by 

DR. CHAS. H. S. DAVIS. 

—_——_-0e—__—_—_ 

Che Gook of the Dead is the most ancient and most 

important of the religious texts which have come down to the present day, 
as regards the extent and variety of information that it affords. 

This celebrated Egyptian theological work, and the oldest book in the 

world, is a group of Hermetic books which has been called the Funeral 
Ritual, or Book of the Dead, and was considered by the Egyptians as 
an inspired work, and for over 5,000 years its prayers and hymns and 
litanies were in use. Some chapters of the book declare that they were 
written by God Himself, and that they reveal His will and the divine 

mysteries to man. == 

FRAP? The Egyptian title was /\ = | **The Manifestation of 

Light,” or in other words, the Book revealing light to the soul. The 

book was destined to instruct the soul in that which would befall it after 

death, and its contents informed the reader what he would have to be 
passed through, and their efficacy secured him against the dangers feared, 
and assured to him blessings desired. 

The Sook of the Dead gives us the completest account of primitive 
belief. We learn from this remarkable book that the standard of morality 
with the ancient Egyptians was very high. ‘‘Not one of the Christian 
virtues,” writes Chabas, ‘‘is forgotten in the Egyptian code: piety, charity, 
gentleness, self-command in word and action, chastity, the protection of the 

weak, benevolence towards the needy, deference to superiors, respect for 

property in its minutest details,” etc. It shows that thousands of years 
before Christ the Egyptians held lofty conceptions of the Deity; that they 
believed in one God, self-existent and omnipotent: and that their moral 
ideas were of the purest and best. 

Only two translations of the entire work have been completed: one in 
English by Dr. Birch in 1867, which is very inaccurate, and now very 

scarce, and the other in French by M. Paul Pierret, in 1882. 
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Tue Brsria PusiisHinc Co. are about to issue the most complete 
edition of the Book of the Mead ever published. 

The 79 plates of the Great Turin Papyrus, giving the 167 chapters 
complete, taken from Lepsius’ Das Todtenbuch der Aegypter nach dem 
Hieroglyphischen Papyrus in Turin, and the 20 plates of the Louvre Papyrus, 
taken from E. de Rougé’s Rituel funéraire des Anciens Egyptiens, publie 
@ apres le Papyrus du Louvre, are reproduced by the photo-engraving pro- 
cess in fac-simile. M. de Rougé’s work was published at $26.00, and 
Lepsius’ book at $8.00, and both are out of print, and would cost much 

more to procure them now. 

In order that the mythology and symbolism of the Book of the Dead 
may be thoroughly comprehended, an account is given of the Religion and 
Mythology of the Ancient Egyptians, with chapters on Animal Worship, 

the Egyptian Pantheon, Symbolism of the Book of the Dead, etc. 

The size of the 99 plates will be 7 x 10 inches, and the book will be 
printed in quarto form, 9 x 12 inches, on superfine book paper, and bound 
in cloth. 

Terms to First Subscribers: 

This work will be sent post or express paid to 

subscribers for the merely nominal price of $3.50, 

about the cost of reproducing the plates. The edition 

will be limited closely to the subscriptions, and when 

published the price will be raised to $6.00. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS. 

I.—The Religious Beliefs of Primitive V.—The Symbolism of the Book of the 
Peoples. Dead. 

1l.—The Religion of Ancient Egypt. ViI.—Translation of the Book of the 
Dead. 

ItI.—Animal Worship in Ancient E t. 
» oP VII.—Index to alljof the words contained 

IV.—The Egyptian Pantheon. im the Turin Papyrus. 

Subscriptions payable on delivery of the book. 
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